



STATE OF IDAHO  
DEPARTMENT OF  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY



**Public Health**  
Prevent. Promote. Protect.  
Panhandle Health District

---

State of Idaho Department of  
Environmental Quality  
1005 W. McKinley Ave.  
Kellogg, ID 83837

Panhandle Health District  
Institutional Controls Program  
35 Wildcat Way  
Kellogg, ID 83837

# Institutional Controls Program (ICP) Changes to the Regulatory Framework Bunker Hill Superfund Site

November 2022

## Response to Written Comments and Modifications to Draft ICP Statute Language

The Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), Panhandle Health District (PHD), and Basin Environmental Improvement Project Commission (BEIPC) Citizen Coordinating Council (CCC) held two public meetings on July 12 and August 16, 2022 to discuss proposed changes to the regulatory framework for the ICP.

The PHD office in Kellogg has managed the ICP for over 25 years under health district rules. However, due to regulatory changes introduced during the 2021 legislative session, DEQ and PHD worked collaboratively to draft a statute, which DEQ would sponsor, to provide a more permanent solution for the ICP regulatory framework.

Under the proposed statute, the ICP would move under DEQ's authority while PHD would continue to administer the program locally. This would maintain the program with no significant day-to-day changes in how the ICP operates for affected parties owning or occupying property within the ICP Administrative Boundary for the Box or Basin.

Draft ICP statute language was presented at the August 16, 2022 meeting. Written comments were accepted through August 26, 2022.

The following summary provides the changes made to the draft ICP statute in response to written comments received and other modifications identified by DEQ and PHD after the August 16, 2022 meeting. Written comments received are included in Attachment A. Modifications made to the ICP statute language, as of November 2022, are shown as track changes and included in Attachment B.

Meeting information, draft ICP statute language from August 2022, and letters of support for the ICP can be found here: [www.deq.idaho.gov/bunkerhill](http://www.deq.idaho.gov/bunkerhill).

## Written Comments Received

One set of written comments were received. A letter from Idaho Conservation League with their comments is included as Attachment A. DEQ and PHD reviewed these comments and incorporated the following changes:

- Deleted “at its own discretion” in 39-6805 (5).
- Changed ‘may’ to ‘shall’ in the following sentence in 39-6806 (9): If an ICP permit is revoked, the department ~~may~~ shall take such steps as are necessary to eliminate any danger from contamination, including completion of work by the department.

The remaining comments were not incorporated into the ICP statute language. DEQ and PHD believe that the other suggested changes would be inconsistent with the intent of the statute to maintain the existing requirements of the ICP. Removing the existing exemptions for agricultural and undeveloped land would be a significant change to the program. Other suggested uses of “shall” instead of “may” would impose more restrictive requirements where there currently is flexibility to work with property owners and contractors based on individual circumstances.

## Other Modifications

Other modifications to the ICP statute language were identified and made by DEQ and PHD after the August 16, 2022 public meeting. These modifications, in addition to the changes from written comments identified above, are shown as track changes to the ICP statute language in Attachment B. A summary of these modifications include:

- Added arsenic and cadmium to the definition of “Contaminants” in 39-6803 (9). Text from the current rule applicable to sampling for the use of materials containing lead, arsenic, and cadmium and associated contaminant concentrations was incorporated into 39-6805 (5).
- Added a definition for “Eligible Properties” in 39-6803 (16). Text from 39-6804 (5) was moved to this definition.
- Added a definition for “Repository” in 39-6803 (27).
- Added a definition for “Site” in 39-6803 (30). Changes were made as applicable throughout the statute to use “Site” in place of Bunker Hill Superfund Site.
- Changed the use of ‘and/or’ to only ‘and’ or ‘or’ as applicable throughout the statute.
- Other editorial changes applicable to statute format, including capitalization, writing out acronyms, and renumbering as needed.

## **Attachment A**

### **Idaho Conservation League Comment Letter**



208.265.9565 • PO Box 2308, Sandpoint, ID 83864 • [www.idahoconservation.org](http://www.idahoconservation.org)

August 26, 2022

**Andy Helkey - Kellogg Remediation Manager**

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality  
1005 McKinley Ave.  
Kellogg, ID 83837

**RE: Draft Statute for Institutional Controls Program for Bunker Hill Superfund Site**

Dear Mr. Helkey,

Thank you for the opportunity to provide input on behalf of the Idaho Conservation League (ICL) regarding IDEQ's draft legislation impacting oversight of the Bunker Hill Superfund Facility. ICL has been protecting Idaho's environment since 1973. We represent over 35,000 members and supporters who care about Idaho's land, water, air, fish and wildlife. ICL protects these values through public education, outreach, advocacy and policy development.

Since the magnitude of lead and other heavy metal pollution in the Silver Valley warranted a Superfund designation under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), and the pollutants pose a significant risk to human health, the extensive cleanup requires ongoing local scrutiny. ICL is therefore advocating for the strongest possible state law as IDEQ assumes local oversight of the Bunker Hill Superfund Site.

This draft legislation would amend Idaho Code Title 39 by the addition of a new Chapter 68. Our requests for revisions to the draft language are signified in **bold**. Thank you for the opportunity to comment.

39-6805 (2) **We request the following language be strengthened as signified.** "As necessary to protect public health and the environment, the department ~~may~~ **shall** impose contaminant management requirements, other than barrier installations, on projects where..."

39-6805 (4) **We request removal of the following exemptions for agricultural and undeveloped land, as people may still be exposed to contaminants on these areas.** "Agricultural and undeveloped land within the institutional controls administrative area are exempt unless excavation and grading activities such as soil transport off site

or development by the owner or his/her agents on these lands is likely to result in the release or migration of contaminants from these lands to adjacent non-agricultural or undeveloped areas.”

39-6806 (5) **We request strengthening this section by requiring a public process prior to exempting any requirements.** “The department may, ~~at its own discretion after public notification and 30-day written comment period, and potentially holding a public hearing or hearings,~~ waive certain application requirements or information, or request additional or alternative actions or information, depending upon the type and extent of the project and conditions encountered.”

39-6806 (9) **We request the following language be strengthened as signified.** “Any ICP permit ~~may shall~~ be revoked or a stop work order ~~may shall~~ be issued, without notice by the department, for non-compliance with or violation of any of the provisions of this chapter or any requirement or limitation of the ICP permit. If an ICP permit is revoked, the department ~~may shall~~ take such steps as are necessary to eliminate any danger from contamination, including completion of work by the department. The applicant, contractor, and/or owner ~~may shall~~ be required to pay all costs and expenses for abatement of any danger and/or completion of the project, including legal fees incurred by the department to obtain compliance.”

39-6806 (11) (d) **We request the following language be strengthened as signified.** “... The department ~~may shall~~ establish a bonding program for all contractors.”

Thank you for your consideration of our comments.

Sincerely,

Jennifer Ekstrom  
North Idaho Lakes Conservation Associate

Idaho Conservation League  
P.O. Box 2308  
Sandpoint, ID 83864  
[jekstrom@idahoconservation.org](mailto:jekstrom@idahoconservation.org)  
208.318.5812

## **Attachment B**

**ICP Statute Language as of November 2022**

IN THE \_\_\_\_\_  
BILL NO. \_\_\_\_\_  
BY \_\_\_\_\_ COMMITTEE

AN ACT  
RELATING TO AN INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM FOR THE  
BUNKER HILL MINING AND METALLURGICAL COMPLEX SUPERFUND  
FACILITY; AMENDING TITLE 39, IDAHO CODE, BY THE  
ADDITION OF A NEW CHAPTER 68, TITLE 39, IDAHO CODE, TO  
PROVIDE A SHORT TITLE, TO PROVIDE ESTABLISHMENT OF  
INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM, TO PROVIDE  
DEFINITIONS, TO PROVIDE SCOPE AND APPLICABILITY, TO  
PROVIDE STANDARDS FOR CONTAMINANT MANAGEMENT, TO  
PROVIDE INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM PERMIT  
APPLICATION AND ADMINISTRATION, TO PROVIDE  
INCONSISTENT LAWS - THIS CHAPTER CONTROLS; AND  
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Idaho:

SECTION 1. That Title 39, Idaho Code, be, and the same is hereby amended by the addition of a NEW CHAPTER, to be known and designated as Chapter 68, Title 39, Idaho Code, and to read as follows:

CHAPTER 68  
INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM FOR THE BUNKER HILL MINING  
AND METALLURGICAL COMPLEX SUPERFUND FACILITY

39-6801. SHORT TITLE. This act may be known and cited as the Institutional Controls Program (ICP) for the Bunker Hill Superfund Site.

39-6802. ESTABLISHMENT OF INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM. In accordance with Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. 9605, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (SARA), Pub. L. 99-499, (hereinafter CERCLA), and, to the extent practicable, the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Contingency Plan, 40 CFR Part 300, the remedial actions for the Bunker Hill Superfund Site are selected and documented in decision

documents referred to as a Record of Decision (ROD) and the body of documents referred to as the administrative record. The ICP was established under the residential soils/populated areas August 30, 1991 ROD as a component of the human health remedy to maintain protective barriers to underlying contamination. As the Bunker Hill Superfund Site expanded, this area was referred to as Operable Unit (OU)-1. The ICP was incorporated into the non-populated areas for OU-2 in the September 22, 1992 ROD, to focus on areas of future development, and OU-3 in the September 12, 2002 interim ROD for residential and community areas outside of OU-1 and OU-2. Institutional controls administrative area maps showing the geographic boundaries for the ICP are available to the public on the internet or through the department upon request.

39-6803. DEFINITIONS. As used in this chapter, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context:

(1) "Agricultural land" means land used for pasturing animals or for cultivation and production of agricultural crops including conservation reserve activities.

(2) "Applicant" means any person, contractor, public utility, government or other entity that is required to apply for an ICP permit.

(3) "Access restrictions" means physical barriers such as fences, barricades, curbs, barrier rocks, trenches, etc., that provide restricted access by vehicles, pedestrians, and animals to contaminated areas.

(4) "Barrier" means any physical structure, material or mechanism that acts to break the pathway between contaminants and human receptors, including but not limited to soil, crushed aggregate/gravel, asphalt and Portland cement concrete, fences, walls, floors, ceilings, access restrictions, or other structure or covering that separates contaminants from contact with people or keeps contaminants in place.

(5) "Board" means the Idaho board of environmental quality.

(6) "Building construction" means construction activity to be performed for any new structure involving disturbance of soil in excess of one cubic yard.

(7) "Building renovation" means construction activity to be performed on any existing structure involving ceiling or insulation removal, work in dirt crawl spaces or basements, or disturbance of soil in basements or crawl spaces in excess of one cubic yard.

(8) "Commercial property" means retail, wholesale and



commercial businesses; public and common use areas; public buildings; and undeveloped properties accessed by a maintained road or street and zoned for commercial development.

(9) "Contaminants" means soil or other material containing, or likely to contain, concentrations of lead, arsenic, or cadmium as identified in the standards for contaminant management presented in this chapter.

(10) "Department" means the department of environmental quality.

(11) "Designee" means entity responsible for implementing the requirements of this chapter as identified by the department through a formal agreement.

(12) "Developed recreation area" means commercial and public recreation areas containing constructed features such as boat ramps, picnic areas, and campgrounds outside the city limits of incorporated communities in the Coeur d'Alene River corridor as defined under ICP Administrative Area for OU-3. The developed recreation areas of the Trail of the Coeur d'Alenes includes all constructed trail surfaces, stop and views, oases (rest stops) and trailheads, exclusive of all undeveloped areas within the trail right of way.

(13) "Director" means the director of the department of environmental quality.

(14) "Disposal" means the placement of contaminants into an authorized repository.

(15) "Excavation" means any digging, breaching or disruption of soil or other protective barrier, not including cultivation of agricultural lands and gardens or mining activities regulated under other state and federal programs, that may release or expose contaminants to the environment.

(16) "Eligible Properties" means residential properties and commercial properties within the institutional controls administrative areas for OU-1 and OU-2 that were maintained properties when the ROD for the OU was established, or maintained properties in OU-3 and existing as of March 27, 2007, and requiring remediation, but not yet remediated.

~~(167)~~ "OU-1" means the Operable Unit 1 for the ~~I~~institutional ~~C~~ontrols ~~A~~administrative ~~A~~area designated to include the 21-square-mile area surrounding the former smelter complex, also referred to as the "bunker hill box." OU-1 includes the populated areas.

~~(178)~~ "OU-2" means the Operable Unit 2 for the ~~I~~institutional ~~C~~ontrols ~~A~~administrative ~~A~~area designated to include the 21-square-mile area surrounding the former

smelter complex, also referred to as the "bunker hill box." OU-2 includes the non-populated areas of the bunker hill box.

(189) "OU-3" means the Operable Unit 3 for the ~~I~~institutional ~~E~~controls ~~A~~administrative ~~A~~area designated to include areas of mining, milling, and smelting related contamination in the South Fork of the Coeur d'Alene River corridor from its headwaters to the confluence with the North Fork Coeur d'Alene River and from the confluence of the North and South Fork to the mouth of the river and its confluence with Coeur d'Alene Lake including adjacent floodplains, tributaries, and fill areas. The area also includes the Trail of the Coeur d'Alenes inside and outside the administrative boundary except that portion within the exterior boundaries of the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation. The area also includes areas in the Coeur d'Alene River corridor, as defined above, outside the administrative boundary where testing has verified that contaminants related to mining, milling, and smelting have come to lie and remediation is required. This area is also referred to as the "Coeur d'Alene basin." The area does not include any area within OU-1 and OU-2 or any other area excluded under this chapter.

(1920) "ICP Permit" means a permit for the contaminant management authorization for projects subject to this chapter.

(201) "Infrastructure" means facilities such as trails, roads, streets, highways, bridges; storm water, drinking water, and wastewater systems; flood prevention systems including dikes and levees; and utilities including electrical power and natural gas systems.

(212) "Large Project" means a project where one (1) cubic yard or more of soil containing contaminants is disturbed or removed and also includes, but is not limited to, infrastructure construction and maintenance; building construction, renovation, and demolition; demolition of existing buildings and construction of subdivisions and planned unit developments (PUD); construction within and maintenance of right-of-ways; land development or any change in the use of land that may result in the release or migration of Contaminants.

(223) "Owner" means any person, partnership, or corporation having ownership, title, or dominion over property for which an ICP permit is required.

(234) "Record of Compliance" means the record maintained pursuant to this chapter for small projects.

(245) "Record of decision" or "ROD" means the

decision document identifying the selected remedy under CERCLA.

(256) "Release" means any excavation, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, dumping, or disposing of Contaminants into the environment.

(27) "Repository" means an authorized disposal location for contaminants that has been established by the department and the United States environmental protection agency.

(268) "Residential Property" means property used by private individuals or families as a residence, and undeveloped properties accessed by a maintained road or street and zoned for residential development.

(279) "Sensitive Populations" means pregnant women and children up to twelve (12) years old.

(30) "Site" means, for the purpose of this statute, the geographic area that includes the institutional controls administrative areas for OU-1, OU-2, and OU-3 within the Bunker Hill Superfund Site.

(2831) "Small Project" means a project where less than one (1) cubic yard of soil containing contaminants is disturbed or interior work that is not building renovation.

(2932) "Trail of the Coeur d'Alenes" means all developed recreation areas and undeveloped areas within the former Union Pacific Railroad Mullan and Wallace Branch right of way.

#### 39-6804. SCOPE AND APPLICABILITY

(1) The purpose of this chapter is to ensure that ICP activities associated with excavation and grading such as infrastructure development and maintenance; building construction and renovation; and land development, redevelopment and/or modification within the institutional controls administrative areas, provide for the construction and maintenance of contaminant barriers and implementation of other contaminant management requirements to preclude the release and migration of contaminants as necessary to protect the public health and the environment. It is imperative that current and future development and construction activities proceed in a manner that minimizes the release of contaminants into the environment to minimize exposure to area residents, communities, workers involved in area project work, and environmental receptors; and complement existing land use regulations and permitting processes and provide a screening process to determine whether proposed activities are subject to this chapter.

(2) It is the intent of the department to work with local governments, Idaho public health district No. 1, ~~EPA~~ United States environmental protection agency, federal land management agencies, Coeur d'Alene Tribe, and private parties in managing contaminants within the regulated area by way of an ICP. This chapter establishes standards for barrier installation and maintenance and other contaminant management practices by:

- (a) Requiring ICP permits and requiring barriers for certain construction and excavation activities;
- (b) Licensing contractors, utilities, and government entities that may disrupt or construct barriers, or otherwise disturb contaminants;
- (c) Adopting performance standards;
- (d) Inspecting for project compliance as required;
- (e) Regulating the movement and disposal of contaminants;
- (f) Making it unlawful to knowingly disrupt a barrier in a fashion likely to expose persons to contaminants;
- (g) Maintaining records of ICP activities including a database tracking system to assist the public, lenders, and potential purchasers of property within the ~~ssite~~;
- (h) Providing technical assistance and testing;
- (i) Providing health screening and intervention;
- (j) Ensuring a readily available repository for contaminants;
- (k) Providing materials to maintain and restore barriers for small projects;
- (l) Providing disposal containers to assist in removing contaminated soil for Small Projects and transport and disposal of such soil;
- (m) Providing health and safety information and training to licensees and the public;
- (n) Providing plastic, gravel and use of vacuums for interior projects; and
- (o) Maintaining guidelines for managing contaminants.

(3) The department may delegate its authority to implement the ICP, as defined by the responsibilities of this chapter, to a designee with local multi-jurisdictional authority through a formal agreement.

(4) This chapter does not apply to operations undertaken at the direction of, under the supervision of, and subject to inspection by, the United States Environmental Protection Agency ~~(EPA)~~ including directing, supervising, and inspecting project work or on lands owned or otherwise under the jurisdiction, custody and control of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe or the federal land

management agencies such as the United States department of agriculture forest service and the bureau of land management; or the Union Pacific Railroad or its contractors when conducting activities within the Trail of the Coeur d'Alenes pursuant to the requirements of the consent decree entered August 25, 2000 by the United States District Court for the District of Idaho (Case Nos. 91-0342 and 99-606). This chapter does not address financial liability for Contaminant management resulting from a failure of a CERCLA remedy due to a natural disaster.

(5) Contaminant management on ~~residential properties and commercial properties existing as of March 27, 2007 and requiring remediation, but not yet remediated,~~ eligible properties will not require construction of final barriers in accordance with this chapter, by the owner, but may require dust, erosion, health and safety and temporary cap controls to prevent further migration onto lands of others. Applicant performed soil testing will be conducted consistent with sampling and analytic procedures developed by the department.

#### 39-6805. STANDARDS FOR CONTAMINANT MANAGEMENT.

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, contaminant management is required on all properties within the institutional controls administrative areas of OU-1, OU-2, and OU-3 including properties that have been remediated; properties tested and scheduled for remediation; properties not yet tested; properties with testing of deep soils (below eighteen (18) inches) by the applicant where a project may result in deep excavations; and properties with replacement and repair of remediation barriers in accordance with the remedial design report or other management activities designated for that geographic location or specific property.

(2) As necessary to protect public health and the environment, the department may impose contaminant management requirements, other than barrier installations, on projects where:

(a) For OU-1 and OU-2, soils exhibit lead concentrations in excess of three hundred fifty (350) parts per million (ppm) lead, particularly where a property has been remediated with either six (6) or twelve (12) inches of clean fill but contaminants in the three hundred fifty to one thousand (350 - 1000) ppm lead range remain below the six (6) or twelve (12) inch depth and those contaminants may be disturbed by a large or small project.

(b) For OU-1 and OU-2, ~~in connection with~~ any large or small project or building renovation involving ~~the~~ breaching or disturbance of a barrier or the disturbance or migration of contaminants ~~exceeding~~ exceeds one thousand (1000) ppm lead.

(c) For OU-3, properties testing below action levels in the top eighteen (18) inches where large or small projects may disturb contaminants below eighteen (18) inches in excess of one thousand (1000) ppm lead or one hundred (100) ppm arsenic.

(3) Developed recreation areas with surface soil containing lead concentrations greater than seven hundred (700) ppm lead and one hundred (100) ppm arsenic shall be capped pursuant to the applicable remedial design report or other management activities designated for that geographic location.

(4) Agricultural and undeveloped land within the institutional controls administrative area are exempt unless excavation and grading activities such as soil transport off site or development by the owner or his/her agents on these lands is likely to result in the release or migration of contaminants from these lands to adjacent non-agricultural or undeveloped areas.

(5) All barriers existing or hereinafter constructed shall be maintained and protected to construction specifications as directed by the department. Materials used for barriers will be sampled for contaminants to ensure:

(a) For OU-1 and OU-2, have no earthen materials containing, on average, more than one hundred (100) ppm of lead or arsenic, nor more than five (5) ppm of cadmium, with no individual sample containing more than one hundred fifty (150) ppm of lead.

(b) For OU-3, soil and crushed aggregate/gravel imported for barrier material shall contain less than one hundred (100) ppm lead, thirty-five (35) ppm arsenic, and five (5) ppm cadmium based on average of backfill sampling results. No single sample of replacement materials may exceed one hundred fifty (150) ppm lead or forty five (45) ppm arsenic.

(6) No new PUD or subdivision will be developed without contaminant management on any portion of the property that exceeds the following contaminant concentrations:

(a) For OU-1 and OU-2, average ~~of exceeds~~ three hundred fifty (350) ppm lead or a single lot exceeds one

thousand (1000) ppm lead.

(b) For OU-3, one thousand (1000) ppm lead or one hundred (100) ppm arsenic ~~shall be developed without Contaminant management.~~

(7) No person may conduct, except in accordance with this chapter, any activity within the institutional controls administrative area that breaches a barrier, may breach a barrier, or disturbs the same, or otherwise results in a threat to public health or the environment from the migration of contaminants through tracking on tires or vehicles, visible airborne dust, excavation, transport, disposal, renovation, demolition, or run-on or run-off from stormwater or in any other manner on properties tested and requiring remediation and on properties not yet tested within the institutional controls administrative area.

(8) Barriers are required as necessary to attain the standards described in this chapter. Construction and maintenance criteria for barriers are specified in the remedial design report designated for each applicable geographic location and are available through the department upon request.

#### 39-6806. INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS PROGRAM PERMIT APPLICATION AND ADMINISTRATION.

(1) An ICP permit is required for large projects and building renovations.

(2) An ICP permit is required for a project that changes the use of a property containing contaminants. A new barrier or additional or more substantial barrier may be required unless waived by the department.

(3) A single annual ICP permit covering a specific list of projects may be obtained from the department by public utilities and government entities eligible under this chapter at the beginning of each year's construction season.

(4) To apply for an ICP permit, all applicants need to complete a form provided by the department.

(5) The department may, ~~at its own discretion,~~ waive certain application requirements or information, or request additional or alternative actions or information, depending upon the type and extent of the project and conditions encountered. In no instance may a waiver violate the intent of this chapter ~~and/or~~ the applicable ROD for the relevant OU.

(6) Work requiring an ICP permit may not commence until a site inspection has been made or waived by the



department and an ICP permit has been issued.

(7) If the ICP permit involves work within any public right-of-way, the appropriate agencies shall be notified of the work by the entity receiving the ICP permit.

(8) All work governed by this chapter is subject to inspection by the department.

(a) All ICP permits granted pursuant to this chapter remain subject to other inspections and requirements prescribed by state or local governments.

(b) The applicant will notify the department within forty-eight (48) hours of completing the work (excluding weekends and holidays) and call for inspection in accordance with the terms of the ICP permit. The inspector will note approval of the work in writing and enter same in the database tracking system or note reasons for disapproval and steps that shall be taken to complete the work. Upon completion of the work to the department's satisfaction, the final approval will be noted in the database tracking system. Such entry constitutes the record of compliance for the project. The department may waive the inspection requirement.

(9) Any ICP permit may be revoked or a stop work order may be issued, without notice by the department, for non-compliance with or violation of any of the provisions of this chapter or any requirement or limitation of the ICP permit. If an ICP permit is revoked, the department ~~shall~~ may take such steps as are necessary to eliminate any danger from contamination, including completion of work by the department. The applicant, contractor, ~~and~~/or owner may be required to pay all costs and expenses for abatement of any danger ~~and/or~~ completion of the project, including legal fees incurred by the department to obtain compliance. The department will endeavor to provide written notice but reserves the right to act summarily to protect public health and the environment.

(10) A record of compliance for small projects that documents compliance with the performance standards established by this chapter will be entered into the database tracking system based upon an inspection requested of the department by the property owner or tenant. The record of compliance signifies the property owner or tenant was informed of and provided with applicable performance standards and guidelines and materially complied with the same.

(11) Licensing for contractors, public utilities, and government entities.

(a) Any contractor working on a project requiring an



ICP permit shall be licensed by the department. There will be no charge for a contractor's license. A contractor's license will not be needed for an owner working on his own property.

(b) Any public utility or government entity (city, county, special purpose district, or state of Idaho), upon a demonstration that supervisory employees have participated in training approved by the department, may receive an annual license that will allow their employees to perform excavation and grading operations without obtaining individual ICP permits. This license may be granted by the department and will require that the utility or entity comply with the standards of contaminant management and all other requirements contained in this chapter. Entities licensed under this section shall maintain a log of all excavations and grading operations on a form approved by the department. All forms shall be forwarded to the department on a schedule determined by the department. All licensees shall telephone the Shoshone or Kootenai County one-call locating service, as appropriate, prior to any excavation or grading operations. Licenses will be renewed annually upon a showing that the utility or government entity has operated in compliance with this chapter.

(c) To obtain a license from the department, the contractor, public utility, or government entity shall participate in training approved by the department and pass an annual examination administered by the department, focusing on the reasons for, and methods of, controlling contaminants. Supervisors involved in activities dealing with contaminants shall participate in the training and pass information on to employees as is necessary to protect their health and safety and assure compliance with this chapter.

(d) Any contractor whose license has been revoked by the department within the past three (3) years shall, as a condition of reinstatement and maintaining the status of a licensed contractor, be bonded in the minimum amount of two-thousand dollars (\$2000). Said bond shall be at least five percent (5%) of the cost of any contract the contractor is engaged in whichever is greater, be in a form approved by the department, and shall be suitable to insure payment for completion of barrier work not completed by the contractor. A cash deposit or other security acceptable to the department may be utilized in lieu of a bond. The department may establish a bonding program for all contractors, if deemed necessary to carry out this chapter.

(e) Suspension or revocation of license.

(i) Upon a showing that a contractor, public utility, or government entity licensee has violated any provision of this chapter or has violated any other health or building code within the boundaries of the site or institutional controls administrative area, suspension or revocation of license may be imposed. Suspension may be made by the department. Revocation may be made by the director upon recommendation of the department. Notification of suspension or revocation shall be in writing. No suspension may be made for more than thirty (30) days without approval of the director. Revocation of license may be made by the director upon a showing of good cause.

(ii) Any person aggrieved by suspension or revocation of license may petition for review pursuant to [Section 39-107\(5\), Idaho Code](#). Filing a petition for review stays the suspension or revocation unless the board of environmental quality makes a finding that such stay is likely to present a health risk to a person or persons.

(iii) If a license is revoked, the contractor may, upon payment of any cleanup or remediation costs related to past work, reapply for reinstatement of license after one (1) year; however, a contractor whose license has been revoked may not obtain a new license under a different corporate or partnership status until this provision is satisfied.

(12) Performance of work.

(a) All work done pursuant to an ICP permit shall be completed in a neat and workmanlike manner and so scheduled as to cause the minimum interference with traffic or public use (if applicable) and a minimum dispersal of contaminants.

(b) If the work is unduly delayed by the applicant, and if the public interest reasonably so demands, the department has the authority, upon twenty-four (24) hours' written notice to the applicant, to complete the work to the extent that the barrier is restored and any hazardous material is covered or removed. The actual cost of work by the department (including legal fees), plus fifteen percent (15%) as an overhead charge, shall be charged to and paid by, the applicant ~~and~~/or the owner.

(13) Approval of alternative standards. Any person seeking approval of alternative standards as described in this chapter may submit a written request for approval to

the department. The request shall be accompanied by an engineering report indicating why the requesting party should be relieved of the requirement for compliance or why the requested alternate standard is appropriate. At the applicant's expense, the department may consult with its own engineer to confirm the applicability of this chapter to the proposed project. The department may approve an alternate standard where such approval does not jeopardize the public welfare or existing barriers. The decision of the department will be in writing, stating the reasons therefor. Any person aggrieved by the department's action or inaction may petition for review pursuant to [Section 39-107\(5\), Idaho Code](#).

(14) Owner and applicant responsibility for claims and liabilities. Both the owner and the applicant are responsible to ensure that all requirements contained herein are complied with. Applicant is responsible for all claims and liabilities arising out of work performed by the applicant under the ICP permit or arising out of the applicant's failure to perform obligations with respect to these regulations. Owner is responsible for all claims and liabilities for work done by the Owner with or without an ICP permit and for work done at the direction of the owner without an ICP permit. Owner remains responsible to complete the project or restore the premises to a safe condition to the satisfaction of the department should the Applicant fail to complete or restore it.

(15) Responsibility of permit applicant. It is the responsibility of any person applying for, or required to apply for, a permit by this chapter, to show affirmatively, by all reasonable means, that his undertaking complies with this chapter or with any related rules, statutes, or ordinances.

(16) Permit revocation. Any permit or permission, actual or implied, granted by the department may be revoked, for cause, by written notice sent to the permit holder or his agent. Any person, association, or corporation who continues to act under such permit or permission actual or implied, more than ten days after the sending or delivery of notice of revocation is presumed to be in violation of this code and subject to the penalties provided herein.

(17) Variances. A variance may be granted only upon an affirmative showing by an applicant that a unique and undue hardship is caused by a physical characteristic of a site that is not of the applicant's making and that approval of the variance would not be contrary to the public interest

or to the purposes of the chapter.

(18) Enforcement. Failure to comply with this chapter pursuant to this chapter shall be subject to enforcement pursuant to the enforcement provisions of the Idaho environmental protection and health act contained in [Section 39-108, Idaho Code](#).

39-6807. INCONSISTENT LAWS - THIS CHAPTER CONTROLS. If any provision of this chapter is inconsistent with provisions of any other law, general, specific, or local, the provisions of this chapter control.

SECTION 2. An emergency existing therefor, which emergency is hereby declared to exist, this act shall be in full force and effect on and after its passage and approval.